

a Ministry of St. Michael's Episcopal Church

647 Dundee Avenue Barrington, IL 60010 847-381-5490 www.littleangelspreschool.org

Parent Handbook 2016 - 2017





Little Angels Christian Preschool A Ministry of St. Michael's Episcopal Church 647 S. Dundee Avenue Barrington, IL. 60010 www.littleangelspreschool.org

Caron Hunter Director	847-381-5490
Caren Hunter, Director	
	chunter@stmichaelsbarrington.org
Sue Dreys, Assistant Director	<u>sdreys@stmichaelsbarrington.org</u>
The Rev. Jesse Perkins, Rector	847-381-2323
	jperkins@stmichaelsbarrington.org
Julie Allord, Family Ministries/Children's Chapel	jallord@stmichaelsbarrington.org
David Buckley, Jr., Senior Warden	dbuckley@kelleherbuckley.com
• • •	
Leslie Yerger, Junior Warden	Leslie@phase2foryou.com
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
Mission Statement	2
Philosophy	2
Admission Policy	2
Curriculum	3
Staff	3
Tuition	3
Discharge and Withdrawal	3
Days and Hours of Operation	4
Drop-off and Pick-up	4-5
Health Policy	5
Safety of Children	6-7
Administration of Medication	7-8
Clothing	8
Children's Birthdays	8
Snacks	8
Parent Participation	8-9
Parent Conferences	9
Parent Communication	9

St. Michael's Little Angels Christian Preschool accepts any child, regardless of race, sex, color, creed or religion who can benefit from this program.

9-10

10-11

10

11

12

12

Little Angels Preschool is accredited by the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) and has earned the ExceleRate Illinois Gold Standard of Quality Award. To learn more about these distinguished awards feel free to visit <u>www.naeyc.org/accreditation</u> and <u>http://www.excelerateillinois.com</u>.

Assessment and Screening

Registration Procedures

Grievance Procedures

Emergency Plan

Confidentiality

Discipline and Positive Guidance

Mission Statement

To know Christ and to bring others to know Christ in a nurturing Christian preschool environment.

Little Angels Christian Preschool is a ministry of St. Michael's Episcopal Church. The Parent Advisory Board, Director and Staff are dedicated to providing a safe and loving Christian environment for all children who attend. Little Angels Preschool is a school where each child is accepted and loved, a school where laughter, play and learning are embraced; where each child is recognized as a gift from God.

Philosophy

Little Angels Preschool program is designed to meet the developmental needs of children aged 18 months to five years old. Little Angels curriculum offers a wide range of developmentally appropriate activities and materials to allow children the opportunity to experience hands-on learning that fosters spiritual, cognitive, social emotional and physical development. All preschool activities, decisions, and educational approaches are based on best practices and a commitment to excellence. Our program is designed to provide the foundation necessary for children to grow into lifelong learners who are comfortable with themselves, their world and their relationship with Jesus.

As a Christian preschool our philosophy is based on the following core values:

- Dedication to a Christian environment where Christian values are introduced and where children and their families are valued and supported.
- Acceptance of any child who can benefit from the program regardless of their race, sex, color, creed, or religion.
- Appreciate childhood as a unique and valuable stage of the human life cycle.
- Base our work on knowledge of how children develop and learn.
- Appreciate and support the bond between child and family.
- Recognize that children are best understood and supported in the context of family, culture, community, and society.
- Encourage and support parents in making the primary decisions about their children's needs.
- Support parents in advocating for their children when special services are needed.
- Respect the dignity, worth, and uniqueness of each individual (child, family member, and colleague).
- Respect diversity in children, families, and colleagues.
- Recognize that children and adults achieve their full potential in the context of relationships that are based on trust and respect.

Little Angels Preschool is a Christian preschool and part of our philosophy includes support and care for, not only the student, but for the well-being of the child's family. When a child or family experiences problems we want to extend help, support and also share any resource information we have available. The director of Little Angels Preschool is always available to help parents and students in any way possible. The director and the entire preschool staff understand and respect the importance of confidentiality. Please feel free to contact any staff member with questions or requests for resource information, in particular resources for screening and diagnostic testing for early intervention.

Admission Policy

Little Angels Preschool accepts all children regardless of race, sex, color, creed, or religion who can benefit from the program. Our preschool classes are designed for children ages 18 months to 5 years. Children are eligible for the programs offered based on their age as of September 1st. Each child will remain in the class they start the school year in thru the end of the school year.

<u>Curriculum</u>

St. Michael's Little Angels Christian Preschool curriculum is based on the Creative Curriculum and promotes every aspect of a child's development: cognitive, social, emotional, physical, creative, and spiritual. Activities, room structures and layout, and lesson plans are all designed to contribute to this goal. Creative Curriculum draws from the theories of leaders in the field of early childhood development such as Eric Erikson, Jean Piaget and Howard Gardner. Using well-tested theories, Little Angels aims first, to recognize that children go through developmental stages, and strives to help each child gain maximum benefit from the stage he/she is in, as well as helping them to move to the next stage. Second, Little Angels takes seriously Jean Piaget's observation that play is essential to the development of the child, and actively seeks to incorporate play into all areas of the curriculum. Third, by using Gardner's Eight Intelligences, interpersonal, intrapersonal, bodily kinetics, musical, visual-spatial, verbal-linguistic, mathematical-logical, and naturalistic, Little Angels builds on each child's strengths, and understands that not all children learn in the same way. Little Angels presents its learning materials and activities in concrete and tangible formats, which are designed to meet the specific developmental needs of each child in the preschool. To promote the children's spiritual growth, Little Angels incorporates a wide range of Christian learning materials, including flannel boards, Bible stories and Bible verses, songs and daily prayer into the curriculum. In addition, a certified music teacher and St. Michael's clergy/staff contribute weekly to the curriculum of the Preschool. The 4's Classes also have weekly Spanish classes.

<u>Staff</u>

Little Angels' staff members meet the State of Illinois DCFS requirements for preschool teachers and teacher aides. Each staff person is hired on the basis of his or her commitment to demonstrating Christian values in his or her teaching and everyday life, and on their knowledge in teaching early childhood education. Staff members profess a strong love for God and His children, and are warm, nurturing role models for the students. Staff members use the team approach, parents and teachers working together, which is essential to a successful preschool experience.

The Preschool requires three written references attesting to the professional and personal character of each staff member, a background check, fingerprints and an updated physical of all staff. Our staff is required to attend 20 hours per year of continuing Early Childhood Education training. All staff members are trained in child abuse prevention and recognition as well as CPR and First Aid on an annual basis. Staff members are also required to meet the teacher and teacher aide requirements established by NAEYC. On-going Professional Development training is required of all staff members. Each staff member develops their own Professional Growth Plan which is overseen by the director.

<u>Tuition</u>

Tuition may be paid in full annually on May 1st, or in three installments: May 15th, Nov. 15th, and Feb. 15th. A late fee of \$15.00 is charged to any payment received after the 25th of the month due. **The \$175.00 registration fee is non-refundable.** Our staffing is based on the number of children enrolled in the daily classes. No refunds are given for absences due to illness, vacations, or snow days. Absences cannot be made up.

Discharge and Withdrawal

If you choose to withdraw your child from the program for any reason, Little Angels requests a two week written notice. This allows us time to notify any families on our waiting list. If the child is unable to adjust to the program and every effort has been made to work matters out with the family, the child may be discharged upon the director's recommendation. In this event, the tuition will be prorated and the balance refunded. However, the annual \$175.00 Registration Fee is <u>non-refundable</u>.

In all instances, where Little Angels decides that it is in the best interest of the child to terminate enrollment, both the child's needs and the parents' needs shall be considered. The director will be available to parents to plan on how to meet the child's needs as he or she leaves the school, including referrals to other agencies or facilities.

Days and Hours of Operation

The Preschool is open from the day after Labor Day in September thru the Thursday before Memorial Day in May. We follow the Barrington Unit School District 220's calendar for days off and holiday breaks as much as possible.

Regular preschool class sessions are from 9:00 – 11:30 am and 12:30 – 3:00 pm Monday – Friday. *Please note, your child is enrolled in the AM Session OR the PM Session. At this time we do not have a full day program.

Early Drop-off is offered from 8:30- 8:55 am Monday – Friday for all of our morning preschoolers.

Late Pick-up is offered from 3:00 – 3:30 pm Monday – Friday for Three's and Four's only. (LPU is not available for Toddlers & Two's)

Please go to the Dist. 220 Website: <u>www.barrington220.org</u> or the Emergency School Closing Website at <u>www.emergencyclosingcenter.com</u> for details about school closings due to bad weather conditions. An email will also be sent from the Little Angels Director informing all families of a school closing. **Missed days because of bad weather conditions will not be made up or credited.**

Drop-Off and Pick-Up Procedures

Parents should park in the parking lot(s) or in parking areas near the East entrance of the school building. Use extreme caution and keep all children "in hand" and on the sidewalk when entering or leaving the building. All parents or authorized guardians must sign-in and sign-out the child each day.

Signing in and out is required by DCFS of Illinois. Children will be released only to persons designated in writing to receive them. The staff shall refuse to release to anyone, whether related or unrelated to the child, unless they are listed on the proper forms held at school. To insure the safety of your child, photo identification may be required at any time of any person(s) picking up your child.

Classroom doors open for class start time at: 9:00 am for AM classes and 12:30 pm for PM classes. Classroom doors open for dismissal at: 11:30 am for AM classes and 3:00 pm for PM classes. Early Drop-off classroom doors open at 8:30 am Late Pick-up doors are open from 3:00 – 3:30 pm

Children participating in Early Drop-off (EDO) are to be dropped off by a parent or caregiver in the following classrooms; Toddlers/Twos in the Twos classroom and Threes/Fours in the Threes classroom. EDO is anytime from 8:30 – 8:55 am. This will be an unstructured playtime for the children. At 8:55 am the preschool teachers will pick-up students from the EDO classroom, escort them to their assigned classrooms and take attendance. These morning children will then begin their regular preschool class 9:00-11:30 am. Parents will be charged \$10.00/day for EDO and billed monthly.

*Early Drop-off is offered for ALL children enrolled in our program for parents who need it.

For our afternoon preschoolers who arrive at 12:30 pm, Late Pick-up (LPU) is offered until 3:30 pm. At 3:00 pm, the regular dismissal time, preschool teachers will escort the children participating in LPU to the Threes classroom where parents/caregiver will pick them up. Parents will pick up anytime between 3:00 – 3:30 pm. This will be an unstructured playtime for the children. Parents will be charged \$10.00/day for LPU and billed monthly.

*There is NO Late Pick-up for Toddlers or Twos because there are no class offerings in the afternoons for these age groups.

BABY ZONE is available for our families with younger siblings under 12 months. If participating in Baby Zone, please pull into the reserved lane in front of the school. A Little Angels staff member will pick-up your child from your car and escort him/her to class at drop-off time and/or will bring your child to the car at pick-up time. If you would prefer to accompany your child to class or pick up your child, you will need to park in the lot and bring <u>all children</u> into school with you. **It is against Illinois State Law and DCFS regulations to leave unattended children in the car at any time.**

Consequences related to pick-up policy: Children must be picked up no later than 5 minutes after class is over or 5 minutes past Late Pick-up time.

Dismissal times are:

- 11:30 am for morning classes
- 1:00 pm for children attending a morning class and participate in the Lunch Pals Program
- 3:00 pm for afternoon classes
- 3:30 pm for Late Pick-up children

** Parents may be charged a late fee of \$5.00 for every 10 minutes after the designated pick-up time.**

Any late fees will be added to the child's tuition expenses and billed on the child's tuition statement. If the final tuition payment has already been paid a separate invoice will be presented to the parent for immediate payment.

Children often do not understand why they are not being picked up on time and the delayed pick up can be upsetting for a child. If a parent is going to be late, they should call the preschool office so the child can be reassured and made aware that the parent is on their way. Contact information and emergency contact information must be current. It is the parent's responsibility to provide updated information in writing to the director whenever necessary.

If a parent does not arrive at the appointed pick-up time, staff will attempt to reach the parents using the phone numbers provided by the parents. **Three phone call attempts** will be made within the first 15 minutes of tardiness, again using the numbers provided by the parents. If we are still unable to reach the parent, the emergency contacts (names and numbers provided by the parents) will then be called. If all attempts to reach the parents and the emergency contact person(s) are unsuccessful; the director has the option to call for police assistance in reaching the parents. The school will hold the child for a maximum period of 1 hour before seeking police assistance.

If the director is made aware of a family emergency which precludes the timely pick-up of the child and no emergency contact(s) can pick-up the child, the school will take responsibility for the protection and well-being of the child until the parent, designated emergency contact person(s) or outside authorities arrive. The director or the director's designee will be responsible for staying with the child on the school premises.

Staff members will not hold the child responsible for any tardiness situation and discussion of this issue will be held only with the parent or guardian and never with or in front of the child.

Health Policy

Little Angels Preschool holds classes for students who are well and who do not present a health risk to other children or staff members. Children, who are *mildly* ill, such as with a minor cold, may remain at school only with the approval of the director. Children must be able to fully participate in all activities, including outdoor activities. Appropriate clothing for outdoor play should be provided by the parents on a daily basis.

Parents must provide documentation of the child's immunizations and record of health prior to the first day of school. The medical form must be updated every two years. Parent may request medical or immunization(s) exemptions for religious reasons. This exemption must be in writing and signed by the parent or parents.
Parents must indicate current health insurance information on the child's application. It is the parent's responsibility to update this information in writing to the director if there is a change in coverage.

3. Parents should notify the preschool each day their child will be absent by calling 847-381-5490 or email the class email or the director.

4. For children unable to use the toilet consistently; disposable diapers are required, unless there is a documented medical reason from the child's doctor. Parents must discuss this medical situation with the director.

5. Parents are required by the Dept. of Health and DCFS to notify the director immediately if their child contracts a communicable disease, for example chicken pox, measles, strep throat, RSV, or head lice. The director will notify all parents of children in the same classroom within 24 hours, or as is reasonably possible, via email.

Little Angels prohibits having your child at school with any of the following symptoms/conditions. If the teacher or director sees a child with any of the following, the child will be sent home:

- Temperature of 100 degrees F or higher. The child must be <u>free from fever for 24 hours</u> without medication before returning to school.
- Continuous coughing, vomiting, diarrhea, headache, swollen glands, rash or open sores, inflamed eye with discharge.
- The presence of head lice or pinworms.
- Conjunctivitis or evidence of the possibility of conjunctivitis.
- Diarrhea or vomiting. Child must be free from either of these conditions for 24 hours while on a normal diet.
- Sore throat or difficulty swallowing.
- Infected skin patches or open, draining wounds.
- Pain of which the child complains, and which interferes with normal activity.
- Excessive fatigue or lethargy.

If the teacher feels that the child is not well, they will consult with the director and the parents will be called.

Safety of Children

Little Angels is dedicated to providing a safe and peaceful environment for all the children and the staff. The procedures listed below will help to ensure your child's safety and well-being.

- 1. All parents must sign their children in on arrival and out at dismissal. No child is ever left alone or unsupervised and must be in the care of staff or a parent at all times. This includes in the preschool hallway.
- 2. A child is released only to his/her parent or responsible person whom the parent has authorized. If a child is going home with another adult, written permission is to be sent with the child, a release form is to be completed by the adult or an email can be sent to the class email or the director.

Any person who is not recognized by the teacher will be asked to show valid photo identification.

- 3. In the event of carpooling, each parent must notify the director of all persons in the carpool who are authorized to drive the child home. Car seat laws must be adhered to as prescribed by the state of Illinois. This is the parents' responsibility, not the school staff.
- 4. Regular fire drills and tornado drills are conducted, with a record of these drills located in the director's office.
- 5. Parents must sign an emergency authorization form, as well as a health record form, for any allergies, special needs, or health conditions requiring special procedures or precautions, including medications the child is taking.

- 6. Little Angels does not provide health insurance for children, nor is the preschool responsible for covering medical costs related to injuries or accidents on the preschool premises. Parents are responsible for providing the child's current Health Insurance information to the preschool. Changes in health coverage should be given to the director in writing, i.e. insurance carrier, policy number, etc.
- 7. When a field trip is taken, a permission slip must be signed by a parent or guardian. Parents must provide an emergency phone number for the time their child is on the trip. Sign-in and sign-out procedures, as mandated by DCFS, remain in place on field trip days.
- 8. Children's hands will be washed routinely with soap and water, and in the following circumstances: upon arrival at school, before and after snack, after using the toilet, wiping or blowing their nose, after outdoor play, and before and after using the water table.
- 9. At no time are firearms or weapons of any kind allowed in the preschool or on St. Michael's property. Toy replicas of any type of weaponry are also prohibited.
- 10. Children are not allowed to bring any live pets into the school. This is to ensure an allergy free environment for those children who may be allergic to certain animals. Photos of a child's family pet(s) are encouraged.
- 11. Poisonous plants are not allowed in the classroom. The program has an Integrated Pest Management plan in place to guard against insect pests.
- 12. All cleaning and sanitation practices are followed as prescribed by the Cook County Health Department, DCFS and NAEYC.
- 13. When a child is injured or involved in an accident, the teachers or director will assess the injury and take the following actions:

If the injury is not serious:

The teacher or director will administer first aid and fill out an accident report. The teachers or director notifies the parent(s) either by telephone before the departure time, or when the child is picked up. **If the injury is deemed a serious emergency:**

- a. The teacher or director will call 911 while the child's teacher stays with the injured child. At no time will the child be left unattended;
- b. The director will notify parents or guardians and advise them on where the child is being taken;
- c. One of the child's teachers will accompany the child to the hospital, bringing the child's complete medical file and remain with the child until a parent or guardian arrives.

Please note: Little Angels Preschool does not provide medical emergency insurance for the children. Financial responsibility is assumed by the parent or guardian. The decision of which hospital is used will be determined by the medical emergency personnel treating the child.

Administering Medications

Prescription medication may be administered only under special circumstances and ONLY if the medication is appropriately labeled and submitted with a written consent form from the parents and physician, including complete instructions on proper dosage, times to be given, and in the original pharmacy container. All medication is kept in a locked cabinet in the child's classroom. It is the parent's responsibility to be aware of expiration dates and provide the preschool with prescribed medication that is current and not beyond the expiration date. All arrangements for medication must be made through and approved by the director in advance.

No over the counter medications will be administered to the children while at preschool, including cough drops and throat lozenges. Medication of any kind may not be kept in a backpack or placed in the child's cubby for any reason. Sunscreen and insect repellants are used at the discretion of the parent and must be applied by the parent or guardian prior to attending school or going on a field trip.

If a child has a diagnosed allergy with any food restrictions or environmental concerns, the parents must contact the director and complete the Allergy Action Plan form. This form will insure that all necessary

precautions will be taken for the safety and medical treatment of their child. If your child requires an epi-pen for an anaphylactic reaction, we do require an epi-pen be left at school in the event of an emergency.

<u>Clothing</u>

Children should attend preschool dressed in play clothes which allow them to move about freely without concern about getting messy. A complete change of clothing must be in the child's backpack each day in the event of any "accidents". They should wear shoes that are safe for both the classroom and the outdoor area.

Sandals, "crocs", open-toes shoes, shoes with slippery soles, and shoes/ boots with a high heel are NOT appropriate preschool foot wear. These types of shoes are often dangerous and may put the child at risk of injury, especially on the large play equipment.

The comfort and health of the child is important during the winter months. All children must wear mittens, hats, coats, snow pants and boots as the weather requires. To ensure that the classroom remains clean throughout the day, snow boots should not be worn in the classroom. A pair of shoes or slippers, kept in the child's backpack, is suggested for the winter months.

Children's Birthdays

The staff at Little Angels Preschool believes each child is a gift from God. We celebrate each child's birthday with a prayer of thanks and sing "Happy Birthday". Teachers provide birthday crowns and parents may bring in a **pre-packaged, no nuts product, that has been approved by the teacher and is in compliance with the no-nut policy.** (The Department of Health and DCFS do not allow any homemade foods.) Summer birthdays are celebrated on a date arranged by the parent with the teacher. Remember, we are a **COMPLETELY NUT- FREE** environment which also excludes any products prepared in a facility that uses the same equipment used in the preparation of their products containing nuts.

Birthday Party Invitations may be put in the children's cubbies **ONLY IF ALL CHILDREN IN THE CLASS ARE RECEIVING ONE.** Each family will receive a school directory which will allow invitations to be mailed or emailed if the party invitations are not going to ALL children in the class. <u>Gift/Party bags are discouraged for birthdays</u> and ALL Holidays.

Snacks

Little Angels will provide snacks/juice/water for the children. All Cook County Health Dept. regulations, DCFS regulations and NAEYC standards on storing and serving food items will be enforced. We do not serve peanuts or any food item that may contain nuts or has been processed in a plant that handles nut products. If a child has food allergies and cannot eat certain foods, the parent needs to provide a substitute prepackaged snack for their child. This should be arranged with your child's teachers.

Birthday or special snacks must be brought to school in the original pre-packaged (unopened) container from the store and must be peanut/tree nut free and/or processed in a peanut/tree nut free environment. Bakery products must be brought in the original container from the bakery along with an ingredient list from the establishment where the items were prepared.

Parent Participation

Little Angels Preschool encourages parents to be actively involved. Here are some of the opportunities: Birthday treats, class parties, field trips, classroom activities unique to the age level, (i.e. "mystery reader" in the Threes), Scholastic Book Fair, Christmas program and reception, Yearly Fundraiser Event, Week of the Young Child activities, All School Picnic in May, and serving on our Parent Advisory Board. We encourage parents to bring their family's culture to the child's classroom via any special presentation or instruction the parent may want to share, i.e. Chinese New Year celebration, a special St. Patrick's Day story or a family tradition. Contact your child's teachers to discuss and arrange a developmentally appropriate classroom presentation. We welcome all parents and all family cultures. Parents have the legal right to visit any area of our facility at any time during the hours their child is present on site. We do ask that you contact the director or teachers if you wish to visit the preschool. Guided tours are also available to interested family members or prospective families by contacting the director.

ROOM PARENTS: Two parents from each class are responsible for organizing the parties and special events in the classroom. They coordinate activities with the teachers and enlist other parent volunteers for items needed for the event.

CLASSROOM PARTICIPATION: The child benefits when the parent is in his/her classroom sharing gifts and talents. Parent involvement in the following areas is appreciated: reading stories to the children, sharing personal interests, hobbies, talents, and cultural backgrounds. In addition, parents are always needed to assist with field trips. You are encouraged to volunteer at the start of school and throughout the school year. Learning about and having children and their parents share their family culture is highly encouraged.

FIELD TRIPS: Field trips are an important part of the curriculum for our threes and fours classes. We believe offsite field trips build confidence in children and encourage them to learn about and explore the world beyond their classroom. Safety is of the utmost concern for any field trip and all the measures outlined in our Field Trip Guidelines are followed including all sign-in and sign-out preschool procedures. The bus used for transporting the children and chaperones has seatbelts which must be used at all times. Children with any disabilities are encouraged to attend the field trips and every effort will be made to accommodate the child with safety as the primary concern. We use the Barrington Bus Company for all or our transportation needs.

Parent Conferences

Parent-teacher conferences are conducted twice a year, in the fall and spring. The staff conducts regular informal observations and determines where the child is developmentally based on those observations. These assessments are used to guide curriculum and to share information with the families. Teachers work to achieve consensus with the families regarding assessments. Teachers also welcome meeting with parents at any time throughout the year to discuss the child's development. To request a meeting, simply ask the teacher to call you or give the teachers a note at the door requesting they call you. Do not hesitate to ask for a conference immediately if you have a serious concern. You may also contact the director at any time with questions, concerns or suggestions. Your input is essential to the success of your child's education and we encourage open communication at all times. Teachers strive to be sensitive to your family culture, values, and identity.

Parent Communication

In addition to this parent handbook, classroom information boards and conferences, parents also have access to classroom calendars and newsletters via the website at <u>www.littleangelspreschool.org</u>. Please plan to visit the preschool website monthly to view your child's class calendar and for up to date news regarding the preschool and your child's specific classroom activities. Each classroom has an email address for communicating with the classroom teachers. We also have a Facebook page, Little Angels Christian Preschool. Please "like" our page to receive posts of the most up to date information about the preschool.

Community news regarding local events and opportunities appropriate for young families with children are shared via the cubbies at the discretion of the director. If you are aware of a community event you feel is appropriate for the Little Angels parent community which is also age appropriate to preschool children and you would like it publicized in the preschool, please contact the director who will make a final determination regarding appropriateness. Private endeavors or business advertising/promotions are not considered appropriate (private music lessons, retail store advertising, support of a personal charity, etc.).

Assessments & Screenings

Each child is screened within the first three months of their entry to our program and then yearly thereafter. The screening tool used is the *Ages and Stage Questionnaire* which is completed by the parent and evaluated by the director. If the results indicate a potential developmental delay, then the director recommends to the parents additional screening options for the child. The results of any screening are placed in the child's file for future reference. Assessments, both formal and informal, are ongoing throughout the year. The formal

assessments are based on the Creative Curriculum assessment program where a developmental continuum is referenced and applied to the observations of the child's behaviors and growth.

The program's assessment and screening results are used:

- To identify where each child is developmentally.
- To become aware of the interests and areas of needs of individual children.
- To be knowledgeable and able to objectively discuss the child's stage of development with the child's parents.
- To provide a record of where the child is on the developmental continuum.
- To guide curriculum in addressing areas of need for continued growth for all children.
- To help in planning for the program's overall goals, especially with respect to improvement.

Parents may request a conference to determine where their child is developmentally or to discuss any concerns they may have throughout the school year.

Discipline and Positive Guidance

Philosophy

Little Angels' philosophy is based on the premise that all children should experience success and the wonder of learning. We strive for an environment that gives children the opportunity to explore and experiment within consistent, age-appropriate limits. In this climate, most problems are prevented. Little

Angels' goal is to help each child develop a positive self-concept and an understanding of his or her

importance to God. No child will be humiliated, shamed, frightened or subjected to verbal or physical abuse by the staff or any parents on school premises or during field trips.

General Definition

Discipline means setting limits, guiding behavior and helping children to know what appropriate behavior is. Discipline should be solution-oriented and designed to help solve problems.

Methods of Discipline:

Distraction—Involves changing a child's focus from an activity that is unacceptable to one that is acceptable without confronting inappropriate behavior. Examples: Handing a toy to a child who is attempting to take another child's toy. Physically putting yourself between two children that are warming up to an argument or fight without even commenting on the situation.

Redirection—Puts the teacher in a more interactive role than does distraction. Redirection is preventative in nature and involves anticipating problems and intervening with a solution, before the problems occur. Examples: Suggesting the child move away from the water table and play in the block area because the child is splashing water at the other children. Offer to read a book to a child rather than allowing the child to topple block structures another child is building.

Ignoring—Teacher asks, "Is this a behavior we can live with in the classroom? If it is, they ignore it, making sure the behavior does not harm anyone or destroy the environment and/or any materials.

Time Out—The purpose of time-out is to help the child calm down, regain control and feel comfortable. Time-outs typically last between 1-3 minutes for preschool age children. Time-outs are rarely used and always guided by the teacher.

Registration and Class Placement Policy

<u>Registration Procedure</u>: Registration for Little Angels Christian Preschool commences in January of each calendar year for the next consecutive school year. Registration is on-going until all classes are full. Wait lists are created and considered throughout the year as openings occur.

<u>Registration Fee:</u> There is a **non-refundable registration fee of \$175.00** for each child registered. At the time this registration fee is paid, the family is aware of the class placement for the student. If the parent desires a different class placement than was assigned, he or she may also place the student's name on a class wait list for

the preferred class designation. \$100.00 of the registration fee is credited back to the third installment payment.

<u>Wait List Consideration</u>: A wait list is established for both program enrollment and class preference during the registration process. As openings occur throughout the year, consideration is given to the individuals on the wait list. The process outlined in the category designations of the following registration policy do not necessarily apply to the process for wait list consideration.

Priority Process for Registration and Class Placement

Registration and class placement occur by following a sequential process of consideration. **Category I:** In-House Families (Defined as families with children currently enrolled in the preschool program) In-house families are given first consideration for registration. Consideration for class placement for in-house families is applied in the following order:

- Children with special needs
- Siblings of currently enrolled students
- Children of St. Michael's parishioners

If a student gets registered for the program, but the parent is not satisfied with the class placement, the parent can place the student's name on a wait list for the preferred class.

Category II: Parish Families (Defined as registered members of St. Michael's where there is no child currently enrolled. The Rector of St. Michael's church will determine any question regarding member status.)

Once the registration and classroom placement process has occurred for all children who apply to Category I, children from parish families who are not currently participating in the preschool program are considered for registration and class placement. If there are more families interested in registration than there are openings in the program, a lottery system is applied to select the students for the program and subsequent class placement. If a student gets registered for the program, but the parent is not satisfied with the class placement, the parent can place the student's name on a wait list for the preferred class.

Category III: Community Families (Defined as any family not covered in Categories I and II above)

Once the registration and class placement process has occurred for all children who apply to Categories I and II, children from the community are considered for placement. These children are registered on a first come first served basis. If a student is accepted into the program, but a different class preference is desired, the parent can place the student's name on a wait list for the preferred class.

Emergency Plan

FIRE: Teachers will have children lineup in the classroom and then proceed by class with teachers out of the building using the primary evacuation route posted in each classroom, if possible, or the designated secondary evacuation route posted in each classroom. A head count will be given to the aide by a teacher as the children are leaving and will be counted again by the aide as the children proceed out of the door. When it is deemed clear of traffic hazards, the children will be taken to the parking lot south of the Sturtz house located directly behind the church's northwest parking lot. There the children and staff will wait for further instructions or pick-up by the parents or designated guardians. Staff will call parents as soon as reasonably possible to let them know of the situation.

TORNADO: In the event of a tornado warning, children will be escorted through the hallway out the west double doors into the Toddler's Room, away from windows until the threat of tornado has been lifted.

MEDICAL EMERGENCY: If a staff member thinks a child or another staff member is in a serious, possibly life threatening, medical situation or condition, the staff member is to call 911 or have another staff member call 911 immediately using the telephone in the classroom or a personal cell phone if necessary. After the call has been placed to 911, the Director is to be alerted to the situation. One staff member will escort all the other children out of the classroom and take them to the undercroft. The other staff member remains with the person who is in the medical crisis and the director will join them as quickly as possible. The director will notify the church office of the medical emergency as soon as possible.

RED ALERT: If the Red Alert requires that children are to be picked up at a time different than the regularly scheduled time, Parents will be notified via telephone as well as an all school email. The pick-up procedures will follow the current DCFS requirements that are in use at that time. Each parent will be asked to use the East entrance which is the regularly used preschool entrance to pick up their child and all sign out procedures at the classroom doors will be adhered to for all children. In the event that the Red Alert requires children stay contained within the preschool, all necessary precautions will be taken to secure the safety and well-being of the children. If the classroom is deemed safe by the Director, the children will remain in their classrooms with teachers until it is safe for them to be dismissed. If a parent wants to pick up their child during that time, they must come to the East entrance doors and sign-out their child. Additional snacks and juice are kept on site for emergencies that necessitate an extended class time for the children.

If the classrooms are deemed unsafe due to windows, the children will be moved to the undercroft space until it is safe for them to return to the classrooms or they are picked up by a parent. In all instances children will be dismissed from the East entrance which is the regularly used preschool pick up entrance.

Grievance Procedures

In the event a preschool parent has a complaint or feels an injustice has occurred with respect to their position or their child's position in the preschool, they should act in following manner.

First, contact the Director. Depending on the severity of the situation a meeting will be held immediately or scheduled for a later time, convenient for the parent and the director.

Should a satisfactory resolution not be reached at the initial meeting, the director will contact the St. Michael's Rector, who will schedule another meeting. Depending on the circumstances presented, the rector may elect to include other neutral parties such as the Preschool Advisory Board Chairperson to assist in the resolution of the conflict.

If resolution still cannot be reached during the parent/director/rector meeting, the rector will set-up an appointment for the director and rector and possibly the Advisory Board Chairperson to meet to determine options for resolution of the issue(s). After the meeting with the St. Michael's Rector, options agreed upon by the director and rector, will be presented to the parents by the Director whereupon the parent and director will finalize the action(s) to be taken. Written notice of the final actions to be taken will be sent to the rector.

We respectfully request all preschool parents follow this procedure to expedite a solution and avoid undo stress on all parties involved.

Confidentiality

The child's application, medical records, initial screenings and annual assessment/conference forms are kept in the child's file which is in a locked cabinet in the director's office. These records may be made available to the child's parents or legal guardians upon request; to the child's teachers throughout the school year, to any authorized employee of DCFS during a licensing visit, and to a NAEYC assessor if requested during any assessment visits. While it is a parent's legal right to view the child's file, a request to see a file must be made to the director and viewed in the director's presence. This also applies to all DCFS employees and NAEYC assessors. No child's file will leave the preschool office at any time except for a medical transport with a child.

All screenings and assessment forms are shared with parents at conferences where the method of assessment is explained and parents are free to ask questions regarding the method of assessment and the results. The formal assessment tool used is the Creative Curriculum assessment package where the Creative Curriculum's Developmental Continuum is used. The screening tool used is the *Ages and Stages Questionnaire* which is completed by the parent at the beginning of the child's initial school year at Little Angels and annually thereafter. These assessment and screening tools are used to provide the parent and the child's teachers with as accurate a picture possible regarding the child's growth and development.

If, at any time, a parent has a question regarding confidentiality, results of a screening, or the formal assessment presented by the teachers, they are welcome and encouraged to contact the director.

Little Angels Preschool is a Ministry of St. Michael's Episcopal Church

St. Michael's Little Angels Christian Preschool embraces not just the children enrolled in the program, but also their entire family. Each family is a welcome and vital part of the St. Michael's Church community and Little Angels Preschool community. Every family is invited to attend St. Michael's Church for worship and fellowship. In addition, Christian education programs for adults and children are offered during the school year. Contact the parish office at 847-381-2323 for times and schedules. As Little Angels and St. Michael's work in tandem, you may be contacted via phone, email, mail, or cubby stuffers about upcoming events of the parish.